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Northville Charter Township 
 

Request for Proposal 

 

 

 

BANKING SERVICES PROPOSAL 
 

Contact: Heidi LaFever, Assistant Finance & Budget Director 

E-mail: hlafever@twp.northville.mi.us 

 

Date Issued: August 1, 2022 

 

Due Date & Time: September 15, 2022, 2:00 p.m. EST 

 

The deadline established for the receipt of your Proposal is 9/15/2022 at 2:00 p.m.  The 

Proposal package is to be submitted to Northville Township – Clerk’s Office, Re: 

BANKING SERVICES PROPOSAL, 44405 Six Mile Road, Northville, MI 48168. 
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Dated: August 1, 2022: The Charter Township of Northville is seeking proposals for 

banking services.  Sealed proposals will be received at Northville Township Hall, Clerk’s 

Office, 44405 Six Mile Rd, Northville, MI 48168 until EXACTLY 2:00 p.m. Eastern Standard 

Time, Thursday, September, 15, 2022. 

The Township officially distributes bid/proposal documents through the Michigan 

Intergovernmental Trade Network (MITN).  The bid/proposal documents will also be 

posted on the Township’s website.  Final proposal results will be posted on the MITN 

website after award. 

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE 

The Charter Township of Northville is located in the northwestern portion of Wayne 

County, 15 miles east of Ann Arbor and 30 miles west of downtown Detroit.  The 

Township serves approximately 31,750 residents and encompasses an area of 

approximately 16.5 square miles.  Northville Township is considered a choice community 

to live. 

Northville Township is requesting proposals from qualified banking institutions that can 

provide the Township with comprehensive, high-quality banking services, competitive 

pricing, and a strong working relationship with its banking partner.  Our objective is to 

identify a banking institution that can offer the most comprehensive services at the 

most competitive rates. 

Northville Township reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, to waive any 

irregularity in a proposal, and to accept or reject any item or a combination of items, 

when to do so would be to the advantage of the Township or its taxpayers.  It is further 

within the right of the Township to reject proposals that do not contain all elements and 

information requested in this document.  This request does not commit the Township to 

make an award nor shall the Township be responsible for any cost or expense which 

may be incurred by any respondent in preparing and submitting a proposal. 

ESTIMATED TIMETABLE 

Identified below are critical dates associated with this Request for Proposals.  Proposers 

shall note that the dates provided are a guideline only and are subject to change as 

the Township deems in its own best interests. 

RFP Release Date August 1, 2022 

Deadline for Clarifying Questions August 26, 2022 

Proposal Submission Due Date (Bid Opening)* September 15, 2022 

Township Review By October 15 

Presentations/Interview October 24 – 28, 2022 

Board of Trustees Approval  November 17, 2022 
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Implementation Date May 15, 2023 

  

*- Proposal Submission Due Date is not subject to change 

PRE-PROPOSAL WRITTEN QUESTIONS 

From the date that this Request for Proposals (RFP) is released until the date the 

Contract is awarded, interested parties should not contact any official or employee of 

the Township for additional information concerning this RFP, except in writing directed 

only to the contact listed herein.  Written questions may be submitted via email to Heidi 

LaFever (hlafever@twp.northville.mi.us) up until 10:00 a.m., August 26, 2022 in order to 

clarify any matters relating to this Request for Proposals.  Any and all questions, requests 

for clarification or additional information received by the Township regarding this RFP 

will not be considered confidential in any way, shape, or form.  The questions and 

Township’s answers will become public record and will be shared with all proposers 

through an Addendum posted on the MITN website. 

No verbal questions will be accepted or responded to.  If a prospective proposer 

engages in any unauthorized communication, the Township may reject the 

respondent’s proposal. 

SUBMITTAL DEADLINE 

The Township requires submittal of one (1) original and five (5) hard copies as well as an 

electronic version provided on a flash drive of the RFP response in a sealed envelope or 

package.  Submittal must be clearly marked “BANKING SERVICES PROPOSAL”.  A 

corporate official, legally authorized to bind the bank, must sign the proposal.  

Responses should contain the elements of information requested.  All responses, 

documents, terms, and information related to the proposer’s response to this RFP shall 

be submitted with the response package prior to the submission deadline.  No separate 

schedules, agreements, terms, conditions, etc. shall be recognized or accepted if not 

initially submitted with the response to this RFP. 

Proposal responses and submittals shall be received and date-stamped by the 

Township Clerk’s Office no later than 2:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time, Thursday, 

September, 15, 2022.   

The following information should be prominently displayed on the box or package: 

BANKING SERVICES PROPOSAL 

Due: September 15, 2022  2:00 p.m. 

Company Name: #### 

Responses must be hand delivered or shipped in one box or package to:  

Northville Township – Clerk’s Office 

Re: BANKING SERVICES PROPOSAL 

44405 Six Mile Rd. 
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Northville, MI 48188 

If the response is sent via mail, the respondent shall be responsible for actual delivery of 

the response to the Township Clerk’s Office before the deadline.  All responses become 

the property of Northville Township.  The content of all responses shall be held 

confidential and sealed until after the public bid opening. 

Any submittal received in the Clerk’s Office after the specified date and time will not be 

considered.  Facsimile and electronic submissions are NOT acceptable. 

EVALUATION OF THE BIDS 

Review 

An evaluation committee, formed at the Township’s sole discretion, will evaluate each 

response.  The evaluation and award recommendation for this RFP shall be made to the 

responsible proposer whose response is determined to be the best value for the 

Township, based on information and submittals received. 

Interview/Presentation 

Township staff will conduct in-person interviews as part of the final selection process of 

the top two (2) selected proposals.  Proposers who are selected for an interview and 

presentation by the evaluation committee will be provided the opportunity to clarify or 

elaborate on the submittal.  This is a fact-finding and explanation session only, and will 

not include negotiation.  The Township desires presentations to take place on-site at 

Township Hall the week of October 24th, specific date and time to be determined.  The 

Township will schedule and coordinate the exact date and time in advance. The 

commencement of discussions or the scheduling of presentations does not signify a 

commitment by the Township to award or to continue discussion with the respondent. 

Negotiations 

The Township reserves the right to select the response that best fits the requirements of 

the Township, and upon recommendation for award, enter into contract negotiations, 

and/or request revised responses from the recommended Proposer.  If the Township 

and the recommended or selected Proposer cannot negotiate a successful contract, 

the Township may terminate said negotiations and begin negotiations with another 

recommended selected Proposer.  This process will continue until a contract 

acceptable to the Township has been executed or all selected responses are rejected.  

No Proposer shall have any rights against the Township arising from such negotiations or 

terminations thereof. 

ELIGIBLE BANKS 

The proposer must be a federal or State of Michigan chartered banking institution with 

a principal office located in Michigan and a branch office located within an 

acceptable proximity to Northville Township Hall, 44405 Six Mile Rd, Northville, MI 48168.  

All proposals must indicate the bank’s principal office location and the branch 
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location(s) closest to Northville Township Hall; preference may be given to institutions 

that have a branch location near our office.  The financial institution must have 

experience in providing banking services for other Michigan municipalities including 

exclusive knowledge of Michigan Public Act 20 of 1943, and have a municipal services 

division.      

CONTRACT TERMS 

Contract Period 

The selected institution shall be designated as the Township’s banking service provider 

for an initial five (5) year term commencing on approximately May 15, 2023.  The 

agreement shall contain two (2) renewal options for up to five (5) years per renewal 

option.  Any contract extension will be effective only after approval of the Township’s 

Board of Trustees.  Deviations from this condition will be considered but the proposer 

runs the risk that their deviation could cause the Township to not further consider their 

proposal. 

Cancellation of Contract 

The agreement shall provide that the Township reserves the right to cancel any 

agreement at any time upon thirty (30) days prior written notice of its intent to terminate 

the agreement.  The selected banking institution shall provide the Township at least one 

hundred eighty days (180) prior written notice of its intent to terminate any agreement, 

which will give the Township time to find a new service provider. 

Award of Contract 

The bank service contract is expected to be awarded by the Township at its earliest 

convenience (approximately November 2022). 

REQUIRED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Each proposer shall submit, with their proposal, copies of their annual audited financial 

reports for the past three (3) years.  The report will be used by the Township to 

determine the financial strength of each proposer. 

DESCRIPTION OF CURRENT AND PROPOSED BANK SYSTEM 

Background 

The Township currently has three (3) main depository accounts (Disbursement/Utility 

Collections, Payroll, and Tax Collections).  The goal is to keep this current arrangement 

but improve on services and service related costs.  Proposers may provide other 

possible options and/or recommendations.  For internal efficiencies, it is our desire to 

have a single access site to perform all of our online banking activities. 

The Township does experience higher monthly balances in the Tax Collection account 

September through February. 



6 
 

Depository 

Deposits are delivered to the nearest branch for processing daily during normal business 

hours.  The Township does NOT utilize an armored car service to deliver deposits. 

The level of available collected funds will be determined on the following schedule: 

 SAME DAY – deposited items drawn on the depository, wire transfers, ACH 

deposits, and cash 

 NEXT DAY – deposited items drawn on local institutions 

 FEDERAL RESERVE AVAILABILITY SCHEDULE – All other items 

The above schedule shall be the maximum clearing schedule.  If faster clearing services 

can be offered, that should be noted in your proposal.  If the proposer is using an 

availability schedule other than the Federal Reserve Schedule, a copy must be 

attached to the proposal.  

Discrepancies between the amount shown on the deposit slip and the funds submitted 

should be handled as follows: 

 When the funds submitted exceed the amount shown on the deposit slip, two 

deposits will be made.  The original deposit and a separate deposit of any 

excess funds. 

 When the funds submitted are less than the amount shown on the deposit slip, 

the original deposit will be made and a separate debit outlining the difference 

will be processed. 

The Township requires that all items returned for insufficient funds be presented for 

payment a second time. 

The Township receives payments from the State of Michigan and the Federal 

Government via ACH deposit.  Deposits are also received daily from InvoiceCloud (a 

third party payment processing vendor) through Chase Paymentech and American 

Express for all online payments made to the Township. 

Your proposal must answer the following questions related to deposit activity: 

Processing 

1. What is the cut-off time to ensure same day ledger credit? 

Fund Availability 

1. How do you determine and calculate availability of deposited items? 

2. Do you give immediate availability for deposits? 

3. Will Regulation CC holds be placed on any deposited items?  If so, please 

describe circumstances which may lead to such holds. 

4. Do you offer Same Day ACH? 

Returned Items 
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1. Describe your procedure for handling returned items (checks) deposited 

into a Township account. 

2. Can the Township request that all return items (checks) returned for non-

sufficient funds (NSF) be automatically redesposited?  If so, how many 

times? 

Lockbox Services 

The Township uses two (2) lockbox service(s): one (1) for property tax collection and 

one (1) for water and sewer utility collections.  For property tax collections, 

approximately 11,000 bills of which approximately 7,200 are non-escrowed are sent in 

the mail around July 1st and again around December 1st.  Of the property tax bills sent, 

approximately 28% (4,060) of the non-escrowed payments are processed annually 

through the lockbox.  This lockbox for property tax collections is only used for eight (8) 

months of the year due to the nature of the payments.  Highest volumes are the last 

week of August to mid-September, the last week of December and the first two weeks 

of February.  Lockbox is closed in the months of March, April, May and June.  Please 

indicate in your response that you understand this arrangement and have priced this 

lockbox accordingly. 

Approximately 9,000 water and sewer utility billings are sent bi-monthly.  Of the bills sent, 

approximately 29% (15,800) of the payments are processed annually through the 

lockbox. 

As you describe the lockbox services offered by your institution, at a minimum, please 

be sure to address the following items: 

1. Location of your lockbox processing center 

2. Confirm lockbox contents are processed the same day items are received 

at the P.O. Box. 

3. What is your normal process for handling payments when the OCR 

payment coupon is missing? 

4. Are you set-up to manually key the account number if the OCR payment 

coupon is missing but a valid account number is included with the 

payment? 

5. What options are available for the Township to manually key in account 

numbers over the web when the OCR payment coupon/account number 

are missing?  In other words what “Web Exception” processing of 

payments exists? 

6. How are multi-coupons with single check payments processed? 

7. How are multi-check payments with a single coupon processed? 

8. Describe how online electronic payments from outside banks are handled 

in the lockbox. 

9. How are payments handled where the payment received is lower than 

the amount on the coupon? 
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10. Are check images and copies of the payment coupons available online?  

If so, for how long? 

11. How is a payment processed when the payment does not belong to the 

Township? 

12. Describe how processing errors are resolved and the standard timeframes 

for resolution. 

13. What is the standard time frame for data transmission of daily processed 

payments? 

14. Describe how the Township accesses the daily payment data file and the 

data format of the file (must be compatible with BS&A software).  

15. What quality control features are in place to ensure that the payment 

data file sent is balanced with the deposit made to the Township’s 

account? 

 

Disbursement Services 

The Township’s current payables disbursements system is a combination of payments 

made to vendors as either check (99%) or ACH (1%) payments.  Almost all of our 

payments are made via checks and mailed to our vendors on a weekly basis.  The 

Township also processes almost its entire payroll as ACH (direct deposit) transactions via 

NACHA (National Automated Clearing House Association) files.  Employees are allowed 

to split their paychecks into different accounts.  The proposing bank must have the 

ability to process ACH files originated by the Township.  The Township issues payroll 

checks for those who do not have direct deposit. 

The Township will provide its own check stock based on awarded bank’s specifications.  

A separate check stock is maintained for Accounts Payable and Payroll disbursements. 

Occasionally, the Township must place a Stop Payment on checks issued for varying 

reasons.  The Stop Payments are entered online in the single access site. 

Describe your recommended disbursement services based upon the information and 

volumes outlined on the Pricing Proposal Form (“Attachment A – Pricing Proposal 

(Northville Township)”)) for our organization. 

As you describe your disbursement services please make sure the following topics are 

addressed: 

1. Transmission procedures 

2. Transmission time windows/ACH hours of operation 

3. Process for reversing/deleting files 

4. Stop payment process/capabilities 

5. Online reporting capabilities 

6. Funding options especially as it related to ACH payments 

7. Ability to create and store recurring/repetitive ACH instructions/templates 

online  
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8. Security features 

9. System requirements 

Payee Positive Pay Services  

The Township currently uses Positive Pay on two (2) accounts to protect our bank 

accounts from check fraud and would like to continue using this type of service going 

forward.  Please provide a brief description of the Payee Positive Pay services offered 

by your bank.  

As you describe your positive pay services please make sure the following topics are 

addressed: 

1. Data transmission methods 

2. File transmission time windows 

3. Notification report delivery methods 

4. Notification transmission time windows/responses deadlines 

5. Control options including default, dollar threshold, etc 

6. Imaging capabilities 

7. Technical online capabilities 

8. System requirements 

Check or E-Check Block 

The Township maintains one (1) account where no checks are issued.  This account 

should be blocked from having checks or electronically converted checks presented 

against the account it is tied to.  Please acknowledge in your proposal whether your 

institution can provide this service. 

ACH Debit Block Services 

The Township currently uses ACH Debit Block services on all three (3) or our accounts.  

With ACH block our accounts only accept authorized senders’ debits which are pre-

determined by the Township.  All other senders are blocked from posting their ACH 

debit.  The Township would like to continue with this service.  Please fully describe your 

ACH Debit Block Service especially as it relates to allowing the Township to set certain 

parameters like blocking all debits (even from approved senders) based on a set dollar 

limit.  Please fully describe your ACH debit block service.   

Wire Transfer Services 

The Township requires that all requests for the wire transfer of funds be processed in a 

timely manner.  The selected bank agrees to execute all wire transfer requests the same 

day as notified by the Township through a web-based product.  Wire transfers ordered 

and not received by the destination party will be traced by the bank from destination 

to originator to ascertain the party responsible for the delay in the transfer.  The 

Township requires the capacity to initiate outgoing wire transfers online using the bank’s 

website.  The Township often utilizes pre-formatted and approved templates for wire 

transfers. 
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Incoming wires will be accepted by the bank and credited to the account on the date 

of the wire receipt. 

Your proposal must address the following items related to wire transfer services: 

1. What are the opening hours and cut-off times in Eastern Standard Time for 

initiating wire transfers for the designee to receive same day credit? 

2. What is the cut-off time for incoming domestic wire transfers to receive 

same day credit? 

3. Does the bank’s wire transfer system have the capacity of warehousing 

instructions for future dated wire transactions?  If yes, how far in advance? 

4. Security measures for wire initiation and approval; must be able to 

accommodate dual control. 

5. Ability to create and store recurring/repetitive wire instructions/templates 

online. 

Online Information Reporting Services 

The Township is currently using our bank’s online information reporting site to monitor our 

accounts on a daily basis.  The Township reviews current day, previous day and monthly 

check clearing among other functions.  The previous day report detailing deposits, 

ending ledger balances, etc. must be available no later than 8:00 a.m. on the current 

banking day.  Monthly statements for each account must be provided to the Township 

online on the next business day following the last calendar day of each month. Please 

provide a description of your online reporting system. 

As you describe your online information reporting services please make sure the 

following topics are addressed: 

1. Applications/modules available within the service 

2. Hours of access/time windows 

3. Level of detail provided for prior day and for intra-day information 

4. History retention 

5. Export capabilities 

6. Internal control options/security features 

7. Imaging capabilities 

8. Technical capabilities 

9. Dispute resolution process 

10. Confirm applications/modules are provided in one (1) comprehensive site 

11. Confirm previous day report and month end statement availability 

timeframes 

12. Option to turn off paper statements 

13. Provide sample reports 

Bank Compensation 
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The Township will pay for banking services either through direct fee or compensating 

balances.  Your proposal must confirm that the Township has the ability to determine 

which method it can use to pay for its banking services. 

As you explain how the compensating balance method works at your institution, make 

sure the following items are addressed: 

1. Define the fees and limits required for compensating balances to offset 

them. 

2. How are your bank’s monthly earnings credit rates calculated?  What 

benchmark is it tied to? 

3. Indicate how quickly the bank will increase or decrease the earnings 

credit rate when the benchmark changes. 

4. Provide historical earnings credit rates for the last three (3) years. 

5. Indicate if there is a method to hold the checking account funds in an 

account such as Intra-Fi Network deposits to ensure our funds are 100% 

FDIC insured. 

Monthly Account Analysis Charges 

Monthly account analysis reports showing overall activity for each account shall be 

provided to the Township within fifteen (15) business days after the end of each 

calendar month.  The Township requires that the monthly analysis fees be debited on a 

monthly basis. This report shall include a monthly analysis of the charges (unit price, 

volume, and total charge per service), average ledger balance, average float, 

average collected balance, reserve requirement (percent and dollar), earnings credit 

rate, and earnings credit amount.  A sample of your analysis report must be included 

with the proposal.  Describe whether this report is available online. 

PRICING PROPOSAL FORM 

Complete and include the Pricing Proposal Form available as an excel workbook 

called (“Attachment A – Pricing Proposal (Northville Township)”).  This should be an 

inclusive list of all fees that will be charged to the Township based on the services 

described in the “DESCRIPTION OF CURRENT AND PROPOSED BANK SYSTEM” section 

above.  The Pricing Proposal Form contains a column for the Proposer to include a 

written description/definition for each fee type listed.  Any missing fee categories should 

be added to the Pricing Proposal workbook with its associated unit cost and 

description/definition.  If a bank cannot meet a service requirement, the bank should 

enter “No Proposal” for that specific requirement.  Furthermore, please indicate if any 

of the fees have a tiered fee structure. 

SOLUTION AND SERVICES 

Company Information 

Please provide the following information for your banking institution: 
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Resource Personnel 

Please address the following items: 

1. Which employees will be assigned to our account should you be 

awarded the contract? 

a.  How many years of service in the municipal sector? 

b.  How many municipal accounts are being managed 

currently by the team? 

2. What is the financial organization’s goal in regards to municipal clients? 

a.  Are resources being allocated to this sector or are resources 

being moved to other profitable sectors? 

b. What is the level of commitment from the organization? 

3. Present information on the number of municipal clients you have in Metro 

Detroit area including the total book of business for 2019-2021. 

Implementation 

Please address the following items: 

1. In consideration of a similar entity in type and size, when and with whom 

was the most recent implementation your staff handled?  Would you 

allow the Township to speak to that entity about the process? 

2. What sort of problems did your team encounter in past implementations 

and how were they remedied? 

3. What are some key steps your staff will take in order to ensure a smooth 

transition? 

4. How do you prioritize the activities for the conversion and implementation 

process? 

5. How long does the on-boarding process generally take?  

6. What does the Township staff training look like (i.e. onsite)? 

 

Company Name:   Contact Name:  

Company Phone:  Contact Phone:  

Company Fax:  Contact E-mail:  

Company Address:  

WebSite Address:  

Federal Tax 

Identification #:  
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Website 

Please address the following items: 

1. How user friendly is your client website? 

2. How often do you updates to the website occur? 

3. Who is our primary contact for support related to website issues? 

4. Is the website managed by a third party provider or is it a proprietary 

system? 

5. What level of downtime has your website experienced and are there 

backup systems in place to cover any service outages? 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

The selected Proposer shall not commence work until the certificates of insurance 

required under this section are obtained and delivered to the Township.  All insurance 

carriers must be acceptable to the Township and licensed to do business in the State of 

Michigan.   

The coverage requirements are as follows: 

1. Commercial General Liability 

Limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and/or aggregate 

combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage.  

Coverage shall include the following extensions: a) Contractual Liability, b) 

Products and Completed Operations, c) Independent Contractor Coverage, d) 

Broad Form General Liability Extensions, e) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse, and 

Underground Exclusions, if applicable.  Northville Township shall be additionally 

insured and designated as primary. 

2. Motor Vehicle Liability 

Limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit 

Bodily Injury and Property Damage.  Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, 

all non-owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles.  Northville Township shall be 

additionally insured. 

3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance 

The selected Proposer shall procure and maintain Workers’ Compensation 

Insurance, including employers’ liability coverage, in accordance with all 

applicable statutes of the State of Michigan. 

RFP SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

        One (1) original and five (5) copies of the signed, completed RFP submittal with 

documents containing all requested proposal information  
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        Completed “Pricing Proposal” Form (“Attachment A – Pricing Proposal (Northville 

Township)”) 

        Electronic version of submission provided on a flash drive 

        Annual audited financial reports for the past three (3) years 

        Certificates of Insurance 

 

 

 


